THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000443
Case No. 2021-CP-38-1138

RECEIVED
May 08 2025
SC Court of Appeals

Se'Anne Davis (Personal Representative for the
Estate of Adrienne Branton) Respondent,

v.

The Regional Medical Center of Orangeburg and Calhoun Counties, Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN
LINDEMANN LAW FIRM, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

MICHAEL C. TANNER
EMRY ERSOY
MICHAEL C. TANNER, LLC
302 Second Street
Post Office Box 1061
Bamberg, South Carolina 29003
(803) 245-9153

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in failing to correctly interpret and apply the Tort Claims Act definition of "occurrence" and in failing to reduce the verdict for the Respondent to \$1.2 million based on the monetary caps set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-120(a)(3) and (4)?

- II. Did the trial court err in making an award of "offer of judgment interest" which is in contravention of the legislative intent as expressed in 2005 Act Number 32 and the provisions of the Tort Claims Act including the express bar on any type of "interest prior to judgment"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a medical malpractice action. On September 27, 2021, the Respondent Se'Anne S. Davis, as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Adrienne T. Branton, filed a Complaint against the Appellant The Regional Medical Center of Orangeburg and Calhoun Counties ("TRMC"). In addition, the Complaint was asserted against other Defendants, including Orangeburg County and the Orangeburg County Sheriff's Office, both of which settled prior to trial.

The Respondent is the daughter of the decedent, Adrienne T. Branton. She alleged causes of action for wrongful death and survival arising out of the decedent's death on October 3, 2019. The claims against the Appellant TRMC were based on the decedent's visit to the emergency room on October 2, 2019, during which time she was seen by non-employee physicians. She was also seen as part of a psychiatric consult by Dr. Bryan West, who was a TRMC employee. TRMC is a governmental hospital, and accordingly, this action against TRMC was brought pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-10, *et seq.*

After the completion of discovery, this case was tried from October 9-13, 2023, before Circuit Court Judge Maite Murphy and an Orangeburg County jury. At the close of the Respondent's case-in-chief, TRMC moved for a directed verdict at which time issues relating to the number of "occurrences" were argued. (R. 612-614). The same directed verdict motion was renewed at the close of all evidence. (R. 803). Those motions were denied. The "occurrence" issue was also discussed as part of a pre-trial motion in limine. (R. 138-143).

The trial court submitted the case to the jury which returned a special verdict form finding two "breaches of the standard of care" by TRMC. Specifically, the jury found that

TRMC “breached the standard of care by failing to stabilize Adrienne Branton, who was actively psychotic” and also “breached the standard of care by discharging Adrienne Branton to an environment unequipped to handle her medical needs.” (R. 14-15). Additionally, the jury found in favor of TRMC as to whether it “breached the standard of care by failing to admit Adrienne Branton to the Behavioral Health Unit.” (R. 14-15).

The jury awarded actual damages in the amount of \$1 million on the wrongful death claim and \$4 million on the survival claim. (R. 14-15). The Appellant TRMC’s post-trial motions were denied, except that the trial court did grant a set-off for the amounts paid by the settling Defendants. The wrongful death verdict was reduced to \$925,000, and the survival verdict was reduced to \$3,925,000. (R. 10). The trial court also applied the monetary caps under Sections 15-78-120(a)(3) and (4) of the Tort Claims Act, and entered judgment in the amount of \$2.4 million, with \$925,000 awarded on the wrongful death claim and \$1,475,000 awarded on the survival claim. (R. 10). Over TRMC’s objection, the trial court also awarded “offer of judgment interest” to the Respondent in the amount of \$31,035.62. (R. 11).

The Appellant TRMC filed a timely appeal to this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Respondent brought this action as a result of the death of her mother, Adrienne Branton, a 69-year-old African-American female, who died on October 3, 2019. The decedent had been in and out of mental institutions around the Columbia area for several years prior to her death. She had a longstanding history of severe mental illness, including schizophrenia and a neurocognitive disorder. (R. 19).

Adrienne Branton had lived with her daughter until she moved to an apartment in Lexington where she stayed until August 2019. It was reported that while living with her daughter, the decedent would hallucinate and throw things away. It was also reported that the decedent accused her grandson of poisoning her with one of his diabetic needles. (R. 458).

In August and September 2019, Adrienne Branton had been an inpatient at Three Rivers Behavioral Health in Lexington and later at the Mary Black campus of Spartanburg Medical Center. (R. 19). On October 1, 2019, she was discharged from Spartanburg Medical Center into the care of Estelle Hutchinson, who owned and operated iKare Boarding House in St. Matthews. (R. 19, 562-563). On October 2, 2019, the decedent refused to take her medicine. Later that day she was found knocking on doors of other residents and taking her property out of her room. Hutchinson called the police who also could not get the decedent to take her medicine. As a result, Hutchinson took her to TRMC on October 2, 2019. (R. 19-20). At TRMC, Hutchinson signed the admission and discharge as the decedent's caretaker. (R. 936-937, 940).

The decedent was initially seen by a non-TRMC employee, Dr. Stephen Burkholz, who noted at 10:11 a.m. that she appeared "depressed, angry, anxious, paranoid, agitated" and had impaired judgment. (R. 259-260, 878). Dr. Burkholz noted that her triggers for the diagnosis of

schizophrenia-bipolar type were a recent personal loss, estrangement, loneliness, and being alone and life stage transitions. (R. 878). Dr. Burkholz did find her “clear in direction, thinking and processing with no evidence of harm to herself or others.” (R. 878). He ordered a Haldol injection of 5 mg, Ativan 1 mg, and Benadryl 50 mg. (R. 873). He also ordered a psychiatric consult with Dr. Alberto Gonzales, a long-term psychiatrist who was also not a TRMC employee. Per his records, Dr. Gonzales saw the decedent at 11:27 a.m. and noted she was irritated and moody and labile and non-compliant with her medicine. He also noted she was paranoid but denied suicidal and homicidal ideations and auditory and visual hallucinations. R. 259-260, 859). Dr. Gonzales found her to have paranoid persecutory active delusions. (R. 859). He recommended in-patient psychiatric care.

Several hours later at 2:04 p.m., a different psychiatrist and TRMC employee, Dr. Bryan West evaluated the decedent and deemed her stable for discharge and reversed the petition for involuntary admission. Dr. West did not believe the patient needed to be admitted because she was calm, cooperative, not suicidal and not internally distracted. Dr. West felt she was taking care of herself with good hygiene. (R. 1232-1233). Dr. West noted the patient denied suicidal and homicidal ideations and auditory and visual hallucinations. (R. 1242-1244). Dr. West attributed her complaints to the Klonopin, and advised discontinuation of this medication as the patient stated it made her dizzy. Dr. West made no other changes to her care and discharged the decedent back to her boarding home. (R. 1237-1238).

Additionally, Dr. West had his nurse practitioner, Cameo Green, call the boarding home with the plan. NP Green called Estelle Hutchinson and told her to stop the Klonopin. (R. 1251-1252). She documented that Hutchinson was “concerned the patient may act out” and “she was

advised to bring her back to the Hospital if she is concerned.” (R. 929). The decedent was reportedly discharged from TRMC at 3:03 p.m. with Hutchinson accompanying her. (R. 929).

After discharge from TRMC, Adrienne Branton reportedly had several more behavioral episodes at iKare Boarding House. Thereafter, Hutchinson transferred the decedent to Heavenly Living Boarding which was operated by Brenda Williams in Orangeburg. While at Heavenly Living Boarding, the decedent refused to come inside and insisted on remaining outside in the heat while wearing a heavy wool coat. That evening, a call was placed to Orangeburg County 911 for an ambulance to return the decedent to TRMC. After arriving at the scene, an Orangeburg County sheriff’s deputy cancelled the EMS run despite the fact that the decedent was exhibiting clear signs of distress. The deputy, however, was able to get the decedent to go inside. (R. 642-648).

The next day, October 3, 2019, Hutchinson returned and attempted to take the decedent to her mental health appointment, but the decedent refused. Hutchinson observed the decedent was wearing her “heavy wool coat” when she arrived and told her she wanted to go stay with relatives. Later, the decedent reportedly took a folding chair from the porch while wearing her coat to wait for her family to arrive. In the early afternoon, one of the staff at Heavenly Living Boarding, Rosa Starkes, tried unsuccessfully to get the decedent to come inside out of the heat to eat. Reportedly, the decedent cursed at her. At approximately 5 p.m., Starkes checked on the decedent again and noticed she was unresponsive. Orangeburg County 911 was called at approximately 5:39 p.m. She was found by a deputy and EMS as unresponsive, sitting in a metal folding chair in the front yard, and wearing a heavy wool military-style coat. (R. 35-36, 975). The autopsy report listed the cause of death as prolonged exposure to environmental heat with hypotonic dehydration and acute renal failure. (R. 525).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for questions of law is *de novo*. The appellate court "may reverse where the decision is affected by any error of law." *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 710 S.E.2d 454, 457 (Ct. App. 2011). The appellate courts are "free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the fact finder." *Id.*

ARGUMENTS

I. The trial court erred in failing to correctly interpret and apply the Tort Claims Act definition of "occurrence" and in failing to reduce the verdict for the Respondent to \$1.2 million based on the monetary caps set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-120(a)(3) and (4).

The trial court determined that the jury found "two occurrences of negligence" and that the evidence "supported its finding that separate and distinct acts of negligence combined to cause Mrs. Branton's death." (R. 3). Based thereon, the trial court "capped" the damages at \$2.4 million "based on the jury's finding of two occurrences." (R. 10). Accordingly, judgment was entered in that amount, with \$925,000 awarded on the wrongful death claim and \$1,475,000 awarded on the survival claim. (R. 10). The Appellant TRMC, however, submits that the verdict should have been reduced to a single aggregate "cap" of \$1.2 million based on the monetary caps set forth in Sections 15-78-120(a)(3) and (4).

Section 15-78-120 of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act establishes the monetary caps or limits on a governmental entity's liability for money damages. Section 15-78-120(a)(3) provides that "[n]o person may recover in any action or claim brought hereunder against any governmental entity and caused by the tort of any licensed physician or dentist, employed by a governmental entity and acting within the scope of his profession, *a sum exceeding one million two hundred thousand dollars because of loss arising from a single occurrence* regardless of the number of agencies or political subdivisions involved." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-120(a)(3). (Emphasis added). Additionally, Section 15-78-120(a)(4) establishes an aggregate cap of \$1.2 million for multiple claims as follows: "The total sum recovered hereunder arising out of a single occurrence of liability of any governmental entity for any tort caused by any licensed

physician or dentist, employed by a governmental entity and acting within the scope of his profession, may not exceed one million two hundred thousand dollars regardless of the number of agencies or political subdivisions or claims or actions involved.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-120(a)(4).

As a threshold issue, it is a plaintiff's burden of proving each "occurrence" as pled. In *Chastain v. AnMed Health Foundation*, 388 S.C. 170, 694 S.E.2d 541 (2010), the South Carolina Supreme Court clearly ruled that "[i]f [plaintiff] alleges multiple occurrences, that is, that there was more than a single act of negligence from which proximately flowed an unfolding sequence of events, she bears the burden of proving each occurrence." 694 S.E.2d at 544. (Emphasis added). In the current case, however, the Respondent did not properly allege nor plead "multiple occurrences" in her Complaint, but rather she merely mentioned in the prayer of her Complaint that "Plaintiff further seeks judgment against Defendants for (a) actual and consequential damages as to each independent cause of action for each occurrence against the Defendants." (R. 27). The trial court, nonetheless, rejected TRMC's argument that multiple occurrences had not been pled and instead ruled that "Plaintiff pled multiple occurrences in Paragraph 10 of her Complaint," and the court also referenced the non-descript reference to "occurrence" in the prayer. (R. 1). The trial court was clearly mistaken as Paragraph 10 of the Complaint is a venue allegation. (R. 19). The trial court also gave the Respondent a pass by pointing out that the Complaint "incorporated" the expert affidavit, although that affidavit does not use the terminology of "multiple occurrences" nor offers any clear description of multiple occurrences. (R. 36-40). At best, the expert affidavit addresses alleged breaches of the standard of care, but those are not synonymous with nor necessarily indicative of multiple occurrences. Notably, the

Respondent did not plead in her Complaint any specific incidents, including date and time, nor any alleged “loss” specifically arising from any purported “occurrences.”¹

The Appellant TRMC further argued that the issue relating to the number of occurrences should be a question of law based upon factual findings by the jury rather than simply a question of fact which would be submitted to the jury to answer. The trial court erred in rejecting that position.

Importantly, in *Parker v. Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District*, 362 S.C. 276, 607 S.E.2d 711 (Ct. App. 2005), this Court, using mandatory language, states: “We conclude that the monetary statutory cap is self-executing and the court is required to apply the monetary statutory cap to any jury verdict exceeding \$300,000.” 607 S.E.2d at 716. The same is true with respect to the statutory cap for torts committed by a physician pursuant to Section 15-78-120(a)(3). Notably, in *Campbell v. City of North Charleston*, 431 S.C. 454, 848 S.E.2d 788 (Ct. App. 2020), this Court again reaffirmed that “the plain meaning of the statute indicates this cap must be executed” and that “under the plain meaning of section 15-78-120(a), courts must apply the statutory cap to actions brought pursuant to the Act.” 848 S.E.2d at 793-794. This Court also emphasized that “the application of the cap is mandatory and self-executing.” 848 S.E.2d at 793.

¹ As the record demonstrates, the Respondent initially argued during the motion in *limine* hearing that there were two occurrences, and in the middle of the trial, surprised TRMC by alleging the existence of four occurrences. The Respondent eventually reduced her claim to three occurrences as to (1) whether TRMC breached the standard of care by failing to stabilize the decedent who was believed to be actively psychotic; (2) whether TRMC breached the standard of care by failing to admit the decedent to Behavioral Health Unit; and (3) whether TRMC breached the standard of care by discharging the decedent to an environment unequipped to handle her medical needs. TRMC maintained its objections throughout the trial that Respondent had not pled with the required specificity any of the above-mentioned occurrence claims in her Complaint.

Thus, the application of the monetary caps is a mandatory duty imposed on the trial court where, as here, the jury's verdict in a physician tort case exceeds \$1.2 million.

As TRMC argued in the court below, the application of the monetary cap pursuant to Sections 15-78-120(a)(3) and (4) presents a mixed question of law and fact. In effect, the application of the monetary cap requires an analysis of the term “single occurrence” which is incorporated in Sections 15-78-120(a)(3) and (4). *See, Charleston County Parks & Recreation Commission v. Somers*, 319 S.C. 65, 459 S.E.2d 841 (1995) (questions of statutory construction are a matter of law).² The term “occurrence” is statutorily defined to mean “an unfolding sequence of events which proximately flow from a single act of negligence.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-30(g).³ As the italicized language above shows, Section 15-78-120(a)(3) caps a judgment at \$1.2 million “because of loss arising from a single occurrence.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-120(a)(3). Thus, to carry out the mandatory and self-executing duty recognized in *Parker* and

² TRMC’s position that the number of occurrences presents an issue of law for the court is further supported by reference to the related context of insurance coverage where the Supreme Court has treated as an issue of law whether a particular factual scenario gives rise to a single occurrence or multiple occurrences. *See e.g., Owners Ins. Co. v. Salmonsens*, 366 S.C. 336, 622 S.E.2d 525, 526 (2005) (the Supreme Court determined as matter of law that “placing a defective product into the stream of commerce is one occurrence” rather than multiple occurrences); *Beaufort County School District v. United National Ins. Co.*, 392 S.C. 506, 709 S.E.2d 85 (2011) (the Supreme Court determined as matter of law that the sexual molestation of multiple victims constituted multiple occurrences).

³ As discussed in more detail below, the statutory definition of “occurrence” is poorly articulated by the General Assembly and hence gives rise to a challenging application. Trial courts, including the one in this case, are repeatedly erring in charging a jury with the definition of “occurrence” and then expecting a jury to navigate its meaning and application on the mistaken premise that a jury question is presented. The statutory definition of “occurrence” is complex and nuanced and frankly not one that can be easily understood or applied by a jury. Indeed, even the South Carolina appellate courts that have addressed that definition have struggled with its meaning and application. *See, Boiter v. South Carolina Department of Transportation*, 393 S.C. 123, 712 S.E.2d 401 (2011); *Chastain v. AnMed Health Foundation*, 388 S.C. 170, 694 S.E.2d 541 (2010).

Campbell, the trial court was required to take the fact-finding of the jury and then determine whether the award for any "loss arising from" any "single occurrence" exceeds \$1.2 million. The trial court erred in failing to fulfill that mandatory duty.⁴

As the trial court instructed and the special verdict form allowed, the jury in the case at bar made a factual determination as to the number of "breaches of the standard of care" that were committed by Dr. West. The jury concluded that there were two breaches, one based on the failure to stabilize the decedent who was actively psychotic, and the other by discharging the decedent to an environment unequipped to handle her medical needs. (R. 14-15). With that special verdict form, that is the extent of what the jury was asked to determine.

Taking that factual determination, the trial court was then required to apply the statutory definition of "occurrence" and determine as a matter of law whether those two "breaches of the standard of care" give rise to or proximately caused the same "sequence of events" that is "unfolding" (or "evolving" or "progressing" to apply useful synonyms). That is the mandatory and self-executing duty imposed by Section 15-78-120(a)(3) as recognized in *Parker* and *Campbell*. As indicated, the trial court did not, however, fulfill that duty or responsibility. Instead, the trial court treated the number of occurrences and the application of the monetary caps as purely a factual question for the jury's determination and concluded erroneously that the jury actually found multiple "occurrences" giving rise to presumably multiple "losses," which the jury did not actually find. The special verdict form stated no such thing. In effect, the jury was only asked to find breaches of the

⁴ Notably, in *Boiter v. South Carolina Department of Transportation*, 393 S.C. 123, 712 S.E.2d 401 (2011), the Supreme Court made the determination that the facts as found by the jury gave rise to multiple occurrences. While often overlooked or misapprehended, the jury in *Boiter* did not actually make any determination regarding the number of occurrences; the jury only determined that both defendants committed acts of negligence. The Supreme Court treated the issue as a question of law for the court.

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