THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

May 08 2025

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000443

Case No. 2021-CP-38-1138

Se'Anne Davis (Personal Representative for the
Estate of Adrienne Branton) Respondent,

v.

The Regional Medical Center of Orangeburg and Calhoun Counties Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

GOINGS LAW FIRM, LLC
Robert F. Goings, SC Bar No. 74855
Jessica L. Gooding, SC Bar No. 101210
Franklin S. McGuire Jr., SC Bar No. 106974
1510 Calhoun Street
Columbia, SC 29201
803-350-9230
rgoings@goingslawfirm.com
jgooding@goingslawfirm.com

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

⁷ Appellant’s discussion of *Parker v. Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District*, 362 S.C. 276, 607 S.E.3d 711 (Ct. App. 2005) and *Campbell v. City of North Charleston* 431 S.C. 454, 848 S.E.2d 788 (Ct. App. 2020), addressed on Page 10 of its Initial Brief, is unnecessary. Taking it as true that the cap is mandatory and self-executing, the trial court appropriately applied the cap to the verdict awarded in this case, entering judgment for \$2,400,000 rather than the \$5,000,000 that was awarded based on the jury finding two occurrences.

TRMC's arguments are without merit, and the trial court's Order and Judgment should be affirmed.

A. TRMC's arguments regarding the sufficiency of the verdict form are not preserved for appeal.

TRMC's basis for claiming the trial judge erred in entering a judgment for two occurrences is that the jury was only asked to find "breaches of the standard of care," and that there was no finding that the breaches were "separate and independent," as opposed to a single unfolding sequence of events, nor a finding of separate losses for each breach. (Appellant's Brief, Argument I (Initial Brief pp.12-17)). In other words, TRMC asserts that the special interrogatory used on the verdict form does not sufficiently support a jury determination that there were two occurrences. This issue was not preserved for appeal, however, as TRMC not only failed to object to the special interrogatory language used on the verdict form, but also **consented to the verdict form** at trial.⁸

"It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court] to be preserved for appellate review." *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Under our preservation rules, a "losing party must first try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred." *I'On, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). "This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments." *Id.*

⁸ In support of its argument, TRMC cites to the jury charge regarding occurrences, arguing that it misstates the law and is illustrative of the trial court's error. (Appellant's Brief, Argument I, n.6). Like the language on the verdict form, however, TRMC made no objection to the language of this charge at trial.

“A contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review.” *Doe v. S.B.M.*, 327 S.C. 352, 356, 488 S.E.2d 878, 880 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing *State v. Hoffman*, 312 S.C. 386, 440 S.E.2d 869 (1994)). “The duty is on the litigant to make a timely objection in order to preserve the right of review.” *Doe*, 327 S.C. at 356, 440 S.E.2d at 880 (citing *Parks v. Morris Homes Corp.*, 245 S.C. 461, 141 S.E.2d 129 (1965)). In addition, “an objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge.” *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001). A specific, contemporaneous objection is imperative “to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000).

Therefore, “**a party may not argue one ground for objection at trial and another ground on appeal.**” *McCall v. IKON*, 380 S.C. 649, 661, 670 S.E.2d 695, 701 (Ct. App. 2008) (emphasis added); *see also Taylor v. Medenica*, 324 S.C. 200, 216, 479 S.E.2d 35, 43 (1996) (holding the issue was not preserved for appeal where the party objected to witness testimony regarding prior convictions as collateral and irrelevant at trial, but then argued on appeal that the convictions were obtained without due process of law); *State v. Hudgins*, 319 S.C. 233, 237, 460 S.E.2d 388, 390 (1995) (finding the issue was not preserved for appeal where a criminal defendant objected to photographs being admitted into evidence at trial on Rule 403 grounds but argued on appeal that his due process rights were violated). This is true even when a party’s failure to object is based on acquiescence with a ruling from the trial court because “**a party cannot acquiesce to an issue at trial and then complain on appeal.**” *State v. Rios*, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding a party’s request for a jury charge was abandoned when the judge indicated he was not inclined to include a requested charge and the party acquiesced) (emphasis

added); *see also State v. Wright*, 416 S.C. 353, 371, 785 S.E.2d 479, 488 (Ct. App. 2016) (finding an issue “unpreserved because [the defendant] acquiesced in the trial court's ruling and failed to object to the curative instruction the trial court gave to the jury.”); *McKissick v. J.F. Cleckley & Co.*, 325 S.C. 327, 350, 479 S.E.2d 67, 79 (Ct. App. 1996) (**holding a party may not complain on appeal when it receives what it asked for at trial**).

Where the appeal is from the denial of a JNOV Motion, the Court must look to the arguments counsel makes in support of its motion for directed verdict because “[a] motion for a JNOV is merely a renewal of the directed verdict motion.” *RFT Mgmt. Co., L.L.C. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*, 399 S.C. 322, 331, 732 S.E.2d 166, 171 (2012) (citing *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 496 (Ct. App. 2006)). “Only the grounds raised in the directed verdict motion may properly be reasserted in a JNOV motion.” *RFT Mgmt. Co.*, 399 S.C. at 331, 732 S.E.2d at 170-71.

Because TRMC did not object or otherwise raise any issue pertaining to the format or language of the special interrogatories on the verdict form at trial, they are precluded from doing so on appeal. TRMC contended at trial that there was only one occurrence as a matter of law. (R. p. 808, lines 5-8). However, once the trial court refused to make that finding as a matter of law and ruled the question of occurrences would go to the jury, TRMC acquiesced to the question being included on the verdict form as a special interrogatory that presented three alleged occurrences for the jury to consider. (R. p. 3; *see generally* R. pp. 727-732 (defense counsel made no objections to the verdict form)). TRMC did not object to the format, language, or phrasing of the verdict form, nor to the specific language used to charge the jury on negligence or occurrences. *Id.*

TRMC’s only, fleeting mention of the verdict form was made after arguing at length that the court should determine the number of occurrences rather than submitting the issue to the jury.

After the judge again rejected TRMC’s argument, Counsel for TRMC noted it “would have the **same objections** to the verdict form as well.” (R. p. 813, lines 19-22) (emphasis added). By asserting it had the “same objections” to the verdict form, TRMC only preserved for appeal its position that the jury should not be given the opportunity to make any factual findings related to occurrences. This objection did not ask the trial judge to rule on whether the language used in the special interrogatory accomplished its intended purpose of allowing the jury to determine the number of occurrences in this case, and therefore, it was not raised and ruled upon. This failure to preserve this issue for appeal is clearest when one considers TRMC *specifically requested* that the special interrogatory be formatted as it was, which the trial judge pointed out in her order denying TRMC’s Motion for JNOV:

TRMC’s argument as to the verdict form is unavailing. Plaintiff requested the jury be provided with a line on which to write in the number of occurrences. In response, **TRMC specifically asked that the verdict form be fashioned in the format that was ultimately provided to the jury.** With the input of both parties, this Court drafted language which would allow the jury to make a finding of up to three separate occurrences which allegedly combined to cause the death of Adrienne Branton based upon the specific evidence presented at trial. The special interrogatories properly summarized the evidence of record, and the jury made a specific finding that two independent acts of negligence combined to cause the death of Adrienne Branton. . . . The verdict form was clear and unambiguous, and the jury charges provided sufficient instruction and guidance as to their duties.

(R. p. 3) (emphasis added). As noted in *McKissick*, a party who “got what it asked for at trial” cannot complain on appeal. 325 S.C. at 350, 479 S.E.2d at 79. The verdict form in this case was crafted at TRMC’s request and with its substantial and specific input during trial, and TRMC made no objection or directed verdict argument that could even arguably preserve this issue for appeal. It was only after the jury issued its verdict and was dismissed that TRMC concocted an argument that the special interrogatories were insufficient to make a finding of multiple occurrences. Its

failure to raise this argument prior to its Motion for JNOV means the objection is forever waived. Because TRMC's only objections at trial were to the jury determining the number of occurrences in general and *not* to the wording of how the jury was asked to determine the number of occurrences, TRMC did not properly preserve any issues pertaining to what it now deems the jury finding "only" breaches of the standard of care, rather than "occurrences." Thus, the Court should not consider any such arguments in Appellant's Brief.

B. There is no special pleading requirement for multiple occurrences under the Tort Claims Act, and the Complaint in this case properly set forth a cause of action for medical negligence with multiple occurrences.

TRMC asserts on pages nine and ten of its brief that the trial court erred in entering an award for two occurrences because the Complaint did not properly allege multiple occurrences. TRMC complains, without plainly asserting error, that Ms. Davis "did not properly allege nor plead 'multiple occurrences'" but "merely mentioned" the existence of multiple occurrences; that the physician affidavit supporting the action "does not use the terminology 'multiple occurrences[;]'" and that the Complaint does not contain "any specific incidents, including date and time," or any "'loss' specifically arising from any purported 'occurrences.'" (Appellant's Brief, Argument I (Initial Brief pp. 9-10)). Appellant's argument is, first, misleading as to the contents of the Complaint, and second, meritless because Appellant cannot point to any authority indicating that anything more is required. There is no heightened or special pleading requirement for occurrences under the SCTCA. Further, TRMC cannot show any surprise or prejudice that resulted from the alleged pleading failure. Thus, the trial court made no error in allowing Ms. Davis to present evidence of multiple occurrences at trial, and this Court cannot reverse on this ground.

The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure require that a Complaint set forth “a short and plain statement of the facts showing that the pleader is entitled to relief,” and “a prayer or demand for judgment for the relief to which he deems himself entitled.” Rule 8(a), SCRPC. “The purpose of a pleading is fair notice to the opponent and the court.” *Watts v. Metro Sec. Agency*, 346 S.C. 235, 240, 550 S.E.2d 869, 871 (Ct. App. 2001). In the absence of a statutory or rule-based special pleading requirement for a particular cause of action, nothing more than the “ultimate facts” on which a claim is based is required. *Id.* TRMC cannot cite to any authority supporting its proposition that there are any heightened or specific pleading requirements beyond those required of Rule 8(a), SCRPC for actions in which there is evidence of multiple occurrences. Even if there were such a requirement, Rule 15(b), SCRPC provides that pleadings may be amended at any time to conform to the evidence, but “failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these issues.” *Id.* In other words, because TRMC had fair notice of the numerous occurrences of negligence being alleged against it and Dr. West, the pleadings were sufficient to allow Ms. Davis to present evidence of multiple occurrences to the jury during the trial of this case.

As against TRMC and Dr. West, Ms. Davis’s Complaint alleges that Dr. West “evaluated Ms. Branton,” made no changes to her care other than advising she discontinue a single medication, “deemed her stable for discharge, and reversed the petition for involuntary admission.” (R. p. 20, ¶ 16). The Complaint goes on to allege that Defendants breached the standard of care by, among other breaches, “failing to exercise reasonable care to treat and stabilize Decedent’s mounting mental health emergency, . . . discharging the Decedent despite knowledge that she was psychiatrically unstable, . . . failing to exercise reasonable care to appropriately plan discharge” for Decedent, and in all ways “set forth in the affidavit of medical expert David S. Husted, M.D., M.S., attached as Exhibit 1 and incorporated by reference.” (R. p. 22, ¶ 29). Finally, in her Demand

for Jury Trial, Ms. Davis specifically sought judgment against Defendants for “actual and consequential damages as to each independent cause of action **for each occurrence** against the Defendants.” (R. p. 27, ¶ a) (emphasis added).

Undoubtedly, TRMC was well-aware of the ultimate facts being alleged and the evidentiary support Plaintiff intended to offer when it was initially served with the Complaint and Expert Affidavit of Dr. Husted. These facts were echoed, explored, and developed through Dr. Husted’s deposition on December 16, 2022 (10 months before trial), and even through the deposition testimony of TRMC’s medical expert, Dr. Hardesty. Five days *before* Dr. Hardesty was deposed, Ms. Davis served TRMC with her pretrial brief, clearly setting out that she would be asking for a special interrogatory that would require the jury to determine the number of occurrences at trial. Any contention that TRMC did not have notice of Ms. Davis’s multiple occurrence claim sufficient to allow it to prepare a defense is baseless. It follows that the trial court rightly allowed Ms. Davis to present evidence of multiple occurrences so the jury could make a factual finding based on that evidence. Any argument to the contrary is unconvincing, and this Court should refuse to overturn the jury’s verdict on these grounds as well.

C. The trial court properly submitted questions of fact to the jury and entered judgment for \$2.4 million under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act’s damages caps based on the jury’s factual findings and damages award.

TRMC has argued that the number of occurrences under the SCTCA is strictly a question of law for the court, alleging the trial court erred in presenting this question to the jury. (R. p. 810, line 25-p. 811, line 3 (“[W]e would take the position that it is improper to leave that decision to the jury [and] that [] is a matter of law that the Court has to determine”)); Appellant’s Brief, Argument I (Initial Brief p. 10) (“The Appellant TRMC further argued that the issue relating to the number of occurrences would be a question of law”). However, in South Carolina, a

“trial court [does] not err in finding the jury [can] determine the number of occurrences because **applying the facts of a case to the statutory definition of ‘occurrence’ [under the SCTCA] is a question of fact for the jury.**” *Wood v. Horry Cty. Sch. Dist.*, Op. No. 2023-UP-244, 2023 WL 4105395 at *2 (S.C. Ct. App. June 21, 2023) (citing *Boggero v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 414 S.C. 277, 280, 777 S.E.2d 842, 843 (Ct. App. 2015) (“Whether the facts of a case were correctly applied to a statute is a question of fact.”)). Further, to the extent the question of occurrences presents a mixed question of law and fact, which was not argued below and therefore not preserved for appeal, TRMC’s argument still fails as set forth below.

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